# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RANKIN GROUP, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO: 2007-CA-02259

CITY OF RICHLAND

**APPELLEE** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

# **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

# **ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED**

Joiner Law Firm, L.L.C. Samuel D. Joiner, Jr. MSB No. 105 N. College St. Brandon, MS 39042 Telephone-601-824-5959 Facsimile-601-824-8883

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RANKIN GROUP, INC.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO: 2007-CA-02259

CITY OF RICHLAND

**APPELLEE** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DID THE COURT BELOW ERR BY NOT FOLLOWING THE CORRECT TIME FRAME IN WHICH SOMEONE AGGRIEVED BY A DECISION MADE BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN MAY APPEAL?
- II. DID THE COURT BELOW ERR BY NOT CONSIDERING THE APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT OF ESTOPPEL WHICH WAS BASED ON THE FACTS IN THE RECORD THAT THE CITY TAXED THE SUBJECT MATTER PROPERTY AS A HOMESTEAD AND NOT A MOBILE HOME AND THE CITY DID NOT PETITION THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR A HEARING ON THE PROPERTY WHICH WOULD REQUIRE ALL INTERESTED PERSONS TO BE MADE DEFENDANTS AS REQUIRED BY MISS. CODE ANN. 21-19-20 (1972)?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil action wherein Appellant, Rankin Group, Inc., sought relief from a final order of the Board of Aldermen in the City of Richland, MS, by filing a Bill of Exceptions and a Petition for a Writ of Mandamus which were dismissed by the lower Court as not being timely perfected.

This case involves the City of Richland taxing the subject matter property as real property (homestead) for many years (over 40) and then attempting to demolish the house as a mobile home under ordinances that apply to mobile homes contrary to the way it has been taxing this property for many years.

The procedural developments prevented this Appellant from obtaining a proper Bill of Exceptions for this Court to have meaningful review, denying the Appellant procedural due process of law. The procedure to demolish real property requires the City to file a Petition in Circuit Court and serve all parties of interest in the title chain with a Summons in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972). This was not done.

# II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN COURT BELOW

The City of Richland's regular City meeting was held on September 4, 2007, and recessed to September 11, 2007. (R. 50 & 118) The minutes were signed and finalized on September 18, 2007. (R. 50, 101 & 119) A Bill of Exceptions was presented to the City for Mayor Scarborough to sign, as is, or to sign with corrections. (R. 51, 67 & 119) The City refused to sign the Bill of Exceptions, and Rankin Group, Inc. filed a Verified Complaint/Bill of Exceptions with the Circuit Court for Rankin County, Mississippi, that same day, September 27, 2007. This was 9 days after the minutes were adopted on September 18, 2007.

Once Rankin Group, Inc. brought the matter into Circuit Court, its pleading stated in part as follows:

The Complainant further respectfully requests that the Clerk of Richland transmit this Bill of Exceptions to the Circuit Court of Rankin County at once, requesting that said honorable court either in term time or in vacation hear and determine this case as presented by the Bill of Exceptions as an appellate court for affirmation or reversal of the judgement.

Rankin Group, Inc. then petitioned the Circuit Court to issue a Writ of Mandamus (R. 49) requiring the City to sign and file the Bill of Exceptions as required by statute.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-51-75 (1972). The City moved to dismiss on October 25, 2007. (R. 76) The Petition appealing the City and the City's Motion to Dismiss were heard on December 6, 2007, at which time the lower Court dismissed Appellant's Appeal and Petition for Writ of Mandamus for being outside the 10 day time frame to appeal a final Board decision. (R. 141; Tr. 27 & 28; R.E. 4-6) The Court also refused to consider the Appellant's argument of estoppel which was based on the facts in the record that the City taxed the subject matter property as a homestead and not a mobile home and was therefore

required to have a hearing and provide notice under Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972) (Tr.6)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The difference between proceeding under the real property statutes and the mobile home statutes is that the Appellant was entitled to notice, the filing of a Petition, and a hearing in Circuit Court. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972) All lien owners of the property involved, and any mortgagee, trustee, or other person having any interest in or lien on the property, should have been made a defendant to the proceedings if any were of record title. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972)

The statute that covers the procedure a City is to follow when it decides to tear down a home is Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972). (R. 113; R.E. 7) The statute that the City is using to claim authority to tear down an abandoned mobile home is Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-11 (1972). In this case the City attempts to use the mobile home statute, which is entitled "Cleaning private property" to demolish a house that it has acknowledged was no longer a mobile home many years ago for the purpose of increasing its tax revenue. (R. 7, 72, 104 & 122) The import of the differences is that the Appellant was entitled to notice and a hearing in Circuit Court that it did not receive. It could have appeared and challenged the findings of the City hearings or meetings.

The City published a notice in the newspaper for two consecutive weeks but did not file a lawsuit against the owner of the property or serve process on the owner and other persons of interest of the property as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972). (R. 72) The property has been taxed as a home and not a mobile home since 1965, which requires the City to follow Miss. Code Ann. § 21-19-20 (1972). (R. 104 & 122; R.E. 8-12) Obviously the City has taken financial advantage of this property by taxing it as real property for over 40 years and then called

a meeting to say differently.

After the City published the wrong notice (notice for mobile homes) in the newspaper, it had a meeting and orally decided to demolish the property. (R. 29, 70 & 118) Rankin Group, Inc. was not represented at that meeting.

Rankin Group, Inc. bought this property on August 31, 2007. (R. 6 & 118) The City met on September 4, 2007, and orally decided to tear down the "mobile home" located at 242 Sloan Drive, Richland, MS, that it believed belonged to Mr. Don Griffin and then recessed that meeting. (R. 118) Rankin Group, Inc. recorded its Warranty Deed on September 5, 2007. (R. 6 & 118) On September 11, 2007, the City met and adjourned the continued meeting from September 4, 2007. (R. 118) Rankin Group, Inc. was informed by someone who had attended the September 4 and 11, 2007, meetings that its property was to be torn down. (R. 118) This was without any prior notice or any contact from the City before or after said meetings were conducted. (R. 118) Rankin Group, Inc. then sought legal assistance. The City of Richland was contacted on September 13, 2007, as evidenced by a letter to Jeff Sims. (R. 119 & 127; R. E. 13) Mr. Sims believed Rankin Group, Inc. was violating Section 2 of the Mobile Home Ordinance even though the City changed the taxation on the property from a mobile home to a real property structure in 1965 due to substantial additions to the property. (R. 119)

There were no minutes adopted, or approved, or signed as of September 13, 2007, for Mr. Sims and counsel for Rankin Group, Inc. to review and discuss. (R. 119) In fact, there was not anything in existence at all except for the copy of the Ordinance that counsel for Rankin Group, Inc. purchased that day from the City for Rankin Group, Inc.'s Bill of Exceptions. (R. 119) The City adopted, approved, and signed the minutes of the September 4, 2007, and September 11, 2007, meetings on September 18, 2007, thereby giving legal effect to the decisions of the Council for the first time and finally providing a written record from which counsel for Rankin Group, Inc.

could appeal. (R. 101 & 119) It was also the first time Rankin Group, Inc., the public, or anyone else could have known what took place at the meetings on September 4 and 11, 2007.

Rankin Group, Inc. contacted Mr. Steve Rimmer of Watkins Ludlam Winter & Stennis,

P.A. on or about September 26, 2007, to discuss the impropriety of the City's actions and was

told by Mr. Rimmer that the City had made up its mind on that property. (R. 119) Rankin

Group, Inc. filed a Bill of Exceptions on September 27, 2007, with the Court (R. 119) and

presented it to the City on September 28, 2007. (R. 6 & 119) The City refused to sign the Bill of

Exceptions or file its own Bill of Exceptions, thus an immediate appeal was posted by Rankin

Group, Inc. on that day to prevent the running of the 10 day appeal time from September 18,

2007, when the minutes were first displayed, signed, and approved.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Rankin Group, Inc. asserts two separate arguments. The first is that Rankin Group, Inc. timely perfected its appeal, and secondly, that the City is estopped from calling the subject matter property a mobile home after it has taxed and acknowledged that the subject matter property is real property since 1965.

This case involves the issue of when the time for appeal begins to run. There are only three dates to address in this decision. First, this City met twice to consider facts and make its decision. In this case it met on September 4, 2007, and continued the meeting until September 11, 2007, wherein it decided to demolish the subject property. (R. 118)

Secondly, the City formally adopted, ratified, and signed the minutes of this action on September 18, 2007. (R. 101 & 119) Thus, the 10 day notice of appeal would either start to run on one of three dates: September 4 (the beginning of the Council meeting); September 11 (the date to which the original meeting was continued); or, September 18 (the date the prior actions were reduced to writing and adopted into law as official actions of the City of Richland).

If this Court rules the 10 day right of appeal begins to run from the first meeting (September 4, 2007), then the appeal time expires on September 15, 2007, three days before the minutes were even typed and presented to the Board for approval.

If this Court rules the 10 day right of appeal begins to run from the second meeting (September 11, 2007), then the right of appeal expires September 22, 2007, four days after the City Board adopted the written minutes which effectively reduces the 10 day statutory appeal time to only four days.

If this Court rules the 10 days begin to run from the first time the minutes are reduced to writing, adopted and signed (September 18, 2007), then the appeal to the lower Court was timely and should not have been dismissed as it was filed on September 27, 2007.

If this Court is of the opinion that the 10-day period begins to run on September 4 or 11, then the lower Court should be upheld, and the City wins. (R. 141) However, if this Court believes the September 18 official action approving the minutes of the September 4 and 11 meetings is the correct starting date to calculate the appeal time, then the Appellant should win as timely perfecting its appeal, and the case should be remanded with instructions for the City to file a proper Bill of Exceptions or whatever relief this Court believes is proper. Since this case turns on interpretation of the law this Court can reverse and render.

The reason the Court should decide to use the later date is to prevent an obvious trap. All a City needs to do to prevent review on appeal is to delay typing up its minutes for more than ten days, thus preventing anyone from having a right to appeal anything.

As for the second issue of estoppel, the City has admitted and acknowledged that the subject matter property is a house because the City has taxed the property for 42 years as a house and not a mobile home and should be estopped from calling the property a mobile home so it can enforce the destruction of the house without following the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 21-

19-20 (1972) which would require the City to file a Petition with the Circuit Court and name all interested persons as defendants.

## <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. DID THE COURT BELOW ERR BY NOT FOLLOWING THE CORRECT TIME FRAME IN WHICH SOMEONE AGGRIEVED BY A DECISION MADE BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN MAY APPEAL?

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW - "de novo"

The issue of when one can appeal a decision is a question of law that is subject to a *de novo* review. *Byrom v. State*, 07-CP-00638-COA (¶ 5) (Miss. 2008)

The City's position is that the appeal time starts from the day the City orally decides something. Rankin Group, Inc.'s position is that the appeal time starts from the time the City reduces the actions at the meeting to writing, and adopts and approves the minutes because the City is a corporation that only works through its minutes.

The time when the decision could have become final was on September 18, 2007, at which time the September 4 and 11, 2007 minutes were adopted and approved by a majority of all of the members of the governing body of the municipality pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-33 (1972). (R. 101 & 119) The September 18, 2007, meeting approving the minutes gave the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the September 18, 2007, meeting. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-33 (1972)

This Court has held;

The latest time when the decision could have become final was, as the Circuit Court dictated in its order, on August 7, 2000, at which time the minutes of the July meeting were signed by the president of the board of supervisors pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated 19-3-27 (Rev. 1995). (Emphasis added.)

Lucas v. Williamson, 01-CA-01252-COA (¶ 5) (Miss. 2003)

"We have held that any final action by municipal authorities or a board of supervisors is

appealable under § 11-51-75." South Cent. Turf, Inc. v. City of Jackson, 526 So. 2d 558, 561 (Miss. 1988). (R. 102 & 120) Appellant respectfully submits it is not final until adopted and approved.

#### Furthermore:

The minutes of every municipality must be adopted and approved by a majority of all the members of the governing body of the municipality at the next regular meeting or within thirty (30) days of the meeting thereof, whichever occurs first. Upon such approval, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the meeting. The governing body may by ordinance designate that the minutes be approved by the mayor.

Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-33 (1972) Municipal Minutes. (R. 51 & 101)

The reading of this statute is where the two sides differ. The City argued and the lower Court Judge agreed that the word "thereof" meant that the signing of the minutes relates back in time to the meeting where the City orally decided to tear down the property. (Tr. 27) The statute is compound, and if the part about the meeting "thereof" is taken out of the statute it would read as follows: "The minutes of every municipality must be adopted and approved by a majority of all the members of the governing body of the municipality at the next regular meeting. Upon such approval, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the meeting." This sentence does not state that the signing of the minutes relates back in time.

Also, another argument that is equally important is if you read the second part of the compound statute and take out, "at the next regular meeting", it would read as follows: "The minutes of every municipality must be adopted and approved by a majority of all the members of the governing body of the municipality within thirty (30) days of the meeting thereof." If the signing of the minutes in this situation is to relate back to the meeting thereof, then the 30 days would run, the City would sign the minutes, giving legal effect to the decision, and the decision

would relate back in time. Anyone aggrieved by the decision would be 20 days outside their statutory date to appeal, before the City, a corporation, ever met to make its actions official.

This appeal is timely filed because it was filed within the 10 days following the September 18, 2007, meeting which is the date the minutes were signed. On September 27, 2007, the original appeal pleading was timely filed in the Circuit Court styled, "Verified Complaint/Bill of Exceptions", and a copy was served on Mr. Steve Rimmer, Esq. by First Class United States Mail. (R. 18; R. E. 14) Out of an abundance of caution, another copy of the Verified Complaint/Bill of Exceptions was served on the City Clerk for the City of Richland by service of process by Summons on Friday, September 28, 2007. (R. 19 & 54; R. E. 15 & 16)

The City of Richland set up its defense and Motion to Dismiss as, "The only issue is when was the meeting adjourned." (R. 78) Obviously, this can only mean the meeting that was adjourned adopting and approving the minutes of the meetings of September 4 and 11, 2007.

When that meeting (September 18) adjourned there was a legal effect that made the minutes of September 4 and 11, 2007, the official acts of the City. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-15-33 (1972).

This gave Rankin Group, Inc. 10 days to review the minutes, consult with counsel, and file its appeal if it thought necessary. This is consistent with the statute and case law, and it makes common sense. Also, this is in line with Miss. R. App. P. 4 that states the appeal time starts to run after the judge enters the judgment and tells one they have 30 days after the judge signs the orders in which to appeal. This is not when the judge orally decided something.

However, in this case, the lower Court ruled the appeal time "relates back" to the oral decision made at a prior meeting which eliminated the appeal time for minutes that were not even in existence. (R. 141; Tr. 27 & 28; R. E. 4-6) This is not in line with Miss. R. App. P. 4(b) which covers the time from when a judge orally makes his decision and the time he enters his judgment. It reads as follows: "A notice of appeal filed after the announcement of a decision or order but

before the entry of the judgment or order shall be treated as filed after such entry and on the day of the entry." From reading Rule 4 it seems that one can appeal when an oral decision is made and not be untimely, and then it gives a time certain as to when the final 30 days are. Appellant believes Rule 4 is a parallel as to how an appeal should be taken from a City meeting which sits as a lower court in this situation.

The above mentioned Supreme Court case, South Cent. Turf, Inc. v. City of Jackson,
526 So. 2d 558, 561 (Miss. 1988), is being misconstrued by the Appellee and the lower Court.

(Tr. 20-23) At first glance it seems that it goes against the position of this Appellant. However, that is only because the person who was appealing in that case was still outside the 10 days to appeal after this Court ruled that the latest time to appeal was after it had finally decided the matter with the signing of the minutes. (Emphasis added.) A pertinent part of the case is as follows:

At its April 1, 1986, meeting, the Council voted to award the golf cart contract to E-Z-Go; that meeting was adjourned on April 1.

On April 8, 1986, the Mayor signed the minutes of the Council's April 1 meeting, evidencing the Council's acceptance of the E-Z-Go bid.

At its April 29, 1986, meeting, the Council heard appellant's argument for reconsideration of bids and referred the matter to its Rules Committee; that meeting was adjourned on April 29.

At its May 6, 1986, meeting, the Council received the recommendation of the Rules Committee that no further action be taken regarding the golf cart matter; that meeting was adjourned on May 6.

The Court held, As in *Gatlin v. Cook*, the City of Jackson was without authority to reconsider the matter which it had already **finally decided** on April 8, 1986, when the Mayor **signed the minutes** of the April 1 meeting, thereby giving effect to the Council's decision to award the contract to E-Z-Go. Mississippi Code Annotated section 21-8-12(2) (Supp. 1987); *City of Oxford v. Inman*, 405 So. 2d 111 (Miss. 1981).

South Cent. Turf, Inc. v. City of Jackson, 526 So. 2d 558, 561 (Miss. 1988)

Clearly the 10 days ran from the April 8, 1986, signing of the minutes and expired on

April 19, 1986. While the Appellant attempted to revive the expired appeal time by filing a late "Motion to Reconsider", this Court did not fall for such deception and ruled properly that the time had already expired.

Otherwise, it would corrupt normal due process. For instance, if the Court adopts the City of Richland's position, then the City could adjourn the September 11 meeting, wait more than ten days and meet on September 22, approve the minutes of the September 11 meeting, which for the first time makes them valid and legal, publish the minutes to the people of the City and say, "No one can appeal because the appeal time relates back to the September 11 meeting and has already expired before we ever met to make the minutes official acts of the City, a corporation." This theory, presented by the City, is neither supported by any case law nor any other authority at all and does not make any practical sense.

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