#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# RANKIN GROUP, INC. Appellant

vs.

# CITY OF RICHLAND Appellee

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Oral Argument is not requested

Stephen W. Rimmer
WATKINS LUDLAM WINTER
& STENNIS, P.A.
633 North State Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39202
(601) 949-4900 – Telephone
(601) 949-4804 – Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE CITY OF RICHLAND

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

# II. Rankin's Bill of Exceptions was untimely and Richland had no duty or obligation to accept it.

The action from which Rankin is seeking to perfect an appeal was taken by the Richland Board of Aldermen at its first regular monthly meeting held September 4, 2007. That meeting was not adjourned, but was recessed until September 11, 2007, at which time the meeting was adjourned. The Richland Mayor and Board of Aldermen met in their second regular monthly meeting on September 18, 2007, at which time the minutes of the meetings of September 4 and September 11 were approved. No action whatsoever was taken by Rankin to appeal the September 4 decision of the Board of Aldermen until at least September 27, 2007. It is undisputed by Rankin that no Bill of Exceptions, notice of appeal, or any other pleading or notice indicating an intent to appeal was filed with the City of Richland or the Circuit Court within the ten day period immediately following September 11, 2007, nor was there any attempt at such filing. Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-75 makes the timely filing of a Bill of Exceptions a mandatory prerequisite to the perfection of an appeal of a decision of the Richland Board of Aldermen to the

Rankin County Circuit Court. Mississippi case law is replete with the principle that established time frames within which appeals shall be taken are both **mandatory** and **jurisdictional** and must be strictly complied with. This principle was cogently stated by this Court in *Moore v*. *Sanders*, 569 So.2d 1148 (Miss. 1990):

This brings us to the question of whether the ten day provision in the statute is mandatory. The pertinent portion of the statute is in the following language: "... [HN3] may appeal within ten (10) days from date of adjournment at which session the board of supervisors or municipal authorities rendered such judgment or decision, and [\*\*5] may embody the facts, judgment and decision in a Bill of Exceptions which shall be signed by the person acting as president. . ." [HN4] Bills of exception unknown to the common law, are founded wholly on the statutes and can only be made up in the manner, time and place provided by statute. Richmond v. Enochs, 109 miss. 14, 67 So. 649 (1915). Furthermore, it has long been the law of this state that statutes limiting the time within which appeals may be taken are both mandatory and jurisdictional. An appeal not perfected with the time prescribed by statute confers no jurisdiction on the appellate court. Such an appeal should be dismissed either on the motion of the appellee or by the appellate court of its own motion. Turner v. Simmons, 99 Miss. 28, 54 So. 658 (1911).

\* \* \* \*

After [\*1150] the ten days had elapsed from the adjournment of the October 1971 meeting there was no way that the appeal could then be perfected.

*Id.* at 754-755.

As we held in *Turner v. Simmons*, 99 Miss. 28, 54 So. 658 (1911):

[HN5] Statutes limiting the time within which appeals shall be taken are both mandatory and jurisdictional, and must be strictly complied with. The court is without power to engraft any exception [\*\*6] on the statute. When the statute is not complied with, the Supreme Court is without jurisdiction of this cause, which will be dismissed, either on motion of appellee or by this court of its own motion. This

court is without power to make any other order. [Emphasis added]

This Court reaffirmed its long held position that the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-75 are both mandatory and jurisdictional and must be strictly adhered to in *Robert House*, et al. v. Gary L. Honea, et al., 799 So.2d 882 (Miss. 2001), stating:

In the case at hand, it is unquestioned that the meeting adjourned on December 30, 1999. Defendants did not file their notice of appeal and Bill of Exceptions until January 14, 2000, which was more than ten days after adjournment. This clearly shows that the appeal to the Circuit Court was untimely.

In Rankin's brief, reference is made to this Court's opinion in *City of Oxford v. Inman*, 405 So.2d 111 (Miss. 1981), as supporting Rankin's position. This Court in very cogent language disposed of any effect the Inman decision would have on the issues herein stating:

Inman deals with when a municipal ordinance becomes effective and has nothing to do with when an order of a board of supervisors is effective.

Even though it likely appears harsh to Rankin that its appeal is time barred for failure to perfect it within the relatively short but mandatory ten day period, an analytical evaluation of this requirement would actually reveal otherwise. If, as urged by Rankin the appeal period did not begin to run until the Minutes were signed, such would serve to impose an untoward burden on a party seeking to perfect an appeal by making it necessary for the potential appellant to make daily contact with the City Clerk to determine if the minutes had been signed and the appeal period had commenced to run. Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-75 unequivocally states that the ten day appeal period begins to run from the date of the adjournment of the meeting at which the action appealed from was taken. Thus, a potential appellant knows precisely when the appeal period commences and how long it has to perfect its appeal.

# III. A meeting of a municipal governing body is adjourned at the time a motion is made, seconded and approved by a majority of the board – not when the minutes of the meeting are signed.

It appears that the Rankin is taking the position that any action taken by a municipal governing body at a meeting has no validity until such time as the minutes of the meeting are signed. Miss. Code Ann. §21-15-33, <u>Municipal Minutes</u>, contains the requirements for adoption and approval of municipal minutes, providing as follows:

The minutes of every municipality must adopted and approved by a majority of all of the members of the governing body of the municipality at the next regular meeting or within 30 days of the meeting thereof; whichever first occurs. Upon such approval, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the meeting. . . .

#### Appendix C.

There appears to be a fundamental misunderstanding on the part of Rankin as to the purpose and effect of the minutes of a meeting of a mayor and board of aldermen. The minutes are not the action of the board, but simply chronicle and evidence the actions and events of the meeting. When approving the minutes of a meeting, the mayor and board of aldermen are simply affirming that the minutes accurately reflect the actions taken at the meeting. If the line of reasoning proffered by the Appelant was followed, any time after a purported "adjournment" and a later date at which the minutes were signed, the board would be free to take further action, change votes, etc. Such a situation would be completely unworkable. Clearly, once the meeting is adjourned, there can be no further action on the part of the mayor and/or board of aldermen, except to approve the minutes, thereby affirming that they accurately reflect the action taken at that particular meeting.

If this Court were to embrace the position advanced by Rankin, the efficient functioning and operations of municipalities would be substantially impaired. Such a position would require

that none of the actions authorized at the meeting of the Mayor and Board of Aldermen could legally be undertaken until the minutes were signed. For example, at almost every meeting, a claims docket is approved for payment. Thereafter, the City Clerk would begin writing checks to the various parties appearing on the claims docket. Following Rankin's line of reasoning, any payments that were made by the Clerk between the time of the meeting and the time the minutes of the meeting were approved would constitute unauthorized expenditures of municipal funds on the part of the Clerk. Further, the undertaking of other actions by city officers and employees that were authorized at that meeting that were undertaken in the interim between the meeting and the signing of the minutes would be without legal authority. The fallacy of such position is obvious.

IV. Upon signing of the Minutes of the September 4 and September 11 meeting on September 18, 2007, such signing in effect "related back" to the date of the adjournment of the September 11, 2007, meeting.

There is a fundamental misunderstanding on the part of Rankin as to the language and effect of the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §21-15-33. The provision in this section, which states, "Upon such approval, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the meeting," does not mean that the minutes only have legal effect from and after the date of the meeting at which the minutes are approved, but that the minutes have legal effect as of the date of the meeting that is reported by those particular minutes." This is clearly reflected by the language in the predecessor statute, §21-15-33, which appeared as §33-74-72 of Miss. Code of 1942 and stated in part,

The minutes of every municipality must be signed by the mayor or a majority of all of the members of the governing body of the municipality within ten days of the meeting thereof, and upon such signing, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the meeting. All minutes signed after ten days from the date of the meeting shall be valid from and after the date of such signing. Thus, the foregoing provision makes it clear that under the former statute if the minutes were signed within ten days of the meeting, they "related back" to the date of the meeting. The legislature recognized the inherent problems the ten day limitation posed for a municipality and changed the statute to thirty days and deleted any provision to the effect that the minutes signed more than thirty days of the meeting would be valid only after their adoption. As previously stated, to do otherwise would substantially impede the efficient functioning of a municipal governing body. Unequivocal support for the foregoing is found in the Court's opinion in <u>City</u> of Biloxi v. Cawley, 279 So.2d 389 (Miss. 1972), wherein the Court stated:

It will be seen that the statute deals with the minutes of meetings, not with days of meetings. Also, it is obvious that it was the legislative intent to provide latitude in the signing of minutes in order that official actions should not be invalidated, even if not signed in ten days. . . .

The city commission convened its regular session on May 17, 1971. By appropriate recessing orders, the Council continued in regular session on May 18, 24 and 26, 1971, and June 2, 1971. The annexation ordinance was duly adopted on May 18, 1971, and the regular meeting was not finally adjourned until June 2, 1971. The ten days contemplated by the statute began to run from June 2, 1971. (Emphasis added)

Judge Richardson cogently disposed of this issue in his Opinion stating as follows:

OK. Again, I'll try to do this. Section 21-15-33 states, "the minutes of every municipality must be adopted and approved by a majority of all the members of the governing body of the municipality at the next regular meeting or within 30 days of the meeting," and it uses the word "thereof", which means the meeting when the action was taken. It can't mean anything else because then it follows up and says, "whichever occurs first." Upon such approval, said minutes shall have the legal effect of being valid from and after the date of the meeting," and it's got to be the meeting where the action was taken because that's the meeting thereof.

(Tr. 27)

# V. Rankin's ability and right to appeal is in no wise limited or otherwise impaired.

On Page 6 of Rankin's Brief, the following language appears:

The reason the Court should decide to use the later date is to prevent an obvious trap. All the City needs to do to prevent review on appeal is to delay typing of its minutes for more than ten days, thus preventing anyone from having a right to appeal anything.

The foregoing statement attempts to raise an issue for which there is no legal basis whatsoever. There are several Mississippi cases stating that a party seeking to perfect an appeal of a decision of a municipal governing body or a board of supervisors is not required to file a pleading formally styled, "Bill of Exceptions" to perfect is appeal, so long as they file a formal pleading indicating an intention to appeal within ten days of the adjournment of the meeting at which the action appealed from was taken. While the foregoing reflects a relaxation of the requirement for the filing of a document styled "Bill of Exceptions" within ten days, it in no way relieves or otherwise affects the mandatory jurisdictional requirement that some formal pleading indicating intent to appeal be filed within the ten day period. This position was clearly stated by the Supreme Court in *Bowen v. DeSoto County Board of Supervisors*, 552 So.2d 2003 (Miss. 2003), wherein the Court stated:

The Court of Appeals found that neither of those cases are contrary to the proposition of <u>Bowling v. Madison County Board of Supervisors</u>, 724 So.2d 431 (Miss. Ct. App. 1988) that [HN2] the actual filing of the bill of exceptions with the circuit court within ten days is not an absolute requirement to vest the court with jurisdiction as long as some formal pleading indicating an intention to appeal is filed within ten days. The Court of Appeals further found that although the bill of exceptions must ultimately be filed, it is not necessary to do so within ten days.

This writer in the past when representing parties aggrieved by a decision of a municipal governing body, has frequently been faced with circumstances wherein the entire record of the proceeding is not available within the ten day period. This problem can be easily dealt with by

simply filing a bill of exceptions and designating the items that will comprise the complete record of the proceeding when those items are available. A statement may be included in the bill of exceptions that it will be supplemented as the necessary documentation becomes available. This is all that is necessary to comply with the mandatory jurisdictional requirements of §11-51-75, so long as it is undertaken within the mandated ten day time frame.

This Court stated in *Tilghman v. City of Louisville, Mississippi*, 874 So.2d 1025 (Miss. 2004)

Thus, our courts have interpreted Miss. Code Ann. §11-51-75 (Rev.2002) to require the filing of an appeal within ten days, but have allowed the bill of exceptions to be filed or amended within a reasonable time thereafter.

The foregoing wholly disposes of this "issue."

#### CONCLUSION

The Judgment of the Circuit Court of Rankin County should be upheld for the following reasons:

- i This case involves an effort by an aggrieved party to perfect an appeal of a decision of the City of Richland Mayor and Board of Aldermen to the Circuit Court;
- ii Section 11-51-75 provides that any such appeal must be made within ten days from the date of adjournment of the meeting at which the action in question was taken;
- iii The action from which Rankin is seeking to perfect an appeal was taken by the Richland Board of Aldermen at its first regular monthly meeting held September 4, 2007;
- iv That meeting was not adjourned, but was recessed until September 11, 2007, at which time the meeting was adjourned;
- v The Richland Mayor and Board met in their second regular monthly meeting on September 18, 2007, at which time the Minutes of the meeting of September 4 and September 11 were approved;

vi No action whatsoever was undertaken by Rankin to appeal the September 4, 2007,

decision of the Richland Board of Aldermen until at least September 27, 2007;

vii At least 16 days elapsed between the adjournment of the meeting on September 11 and the taking of any action by the Rankin to perfect an appeal to the Rankin County Circuit

Court.

The proffered appeal of Rankin was untimely and the Judgment of the Circuit Court of Rankin County dismissing Appellant's Petition for Writ of Mandamus should be sustained.

\* In view of the undisputed facts of this case, as well as the fact that this case involves no complex or esoteric theories of law, it is the position of Appellees that oral argument in this case is not necessary, would in no way advance the inquiry herein and would constitute an unwarranted waste of judicial time and resources.